WORKING PAPER



NOVEMBER 2021

Navigating the Democracy-Security Dilemma in U.S. Foreign Policy: Lessons from Egypt, India, and Turkey

Thomas Carothers and Benjamin Press

Navigating the Democracy-Security Dilemma in U.S. Foreign Policy: Lessons from Egypt, India, and Turkey

Thomas Carothers and Benjamin Press

Generous support from the Ford Foundation to the Carnegie Endowment helped make the research and writing of this paper possible. All views expressed herein are those of the authors alone.

© 2021 Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. All rights reserved.

Carnegie does not take institutional positions on public policy issues; the views represented herein are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of Carnegie, its staff, or its trustees.

No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission in writing from the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. Please direct inquiries to:

Carnegie Endowment for International Peace Publications Department 1779 Massachusetts Avenue NW Washington, DC 20036 P: + 1 202 483 7600 F: + 1 202 483 1840 CarnegieEndowment.org

This publication can be downloaded at no cost at CarnegieEndowment.org.

Contents

| Summary | 1 |
|--|----|
| Introduction | 3 |
| Dilemma Drivers | 6 |
| Egypt | 7 |
| Turkey | 11 |
| India | 15 |
| A Policy Assessment Framework | 19 |
| About the Authors | 25 |
| Notes | 27 |
| Carnegie Endowment for International Peace | 29 |

Summary

As President Joe Biden and his team seek to put the defense of democracy and protection of human rights at the center of U.S. foreign policy, they confront the stubborn fact that the United States maintains cooperative security relations with a wide range of undemocratic or democratically backsliding governments. Powerful security interests, especially countering terrorist threats, maintaining stability in the Middle East, and managing competition with a rising China, underlie many of these partnerships. Such situations frequently give rise to a policy dilemma: confronting partner governments over their political shortcomings risks triggering hostility that would jeopardize the security benefits that such governments provide to Washington. Yet giving them a free pass on democracy and rights issues undercuts the credibility of U.S. appeals to values, bolstering the damaging perception that America only pushes for democracy against its adversaries or in strategically irrelevant countries.

Already in the first year of Biden's presidency, such tensions have emerged in relations with countries as diverse as Egypt, Hungary, India, the Philippines, Poland, Saudi Arabia, and Turkey. While the Biden administration has publicly and privately raised democracy and rights issues with various security partners, its cautious approach toward some of them has started to attract criticism from those who feel that near-term security interests have been too strongly prioritized compared to democracy and human rights concerns.

This paper looks in depth at the democracy-security dilemma with a view to helping U.S. policymakers deal with it more systematically and effectively. Case studies of U.S. policy toward Egypt, India, and Turkey over the past twenty years highlight the complexity of the democracy-security dilemma. In Egypt, U.S. concerns with the country's authoritarian

politics have surfaced periodically over the years yet struggled to find a meaningful place in a relationship dominated by deeply rooted security cooperation, including extensive U.S. security assistance. In India, a strong U.S. push, warmly welcomed by Prime Minister Narendra Modi's government, to further strengthen the U.S.-Indian security partnership has unfolded alongside a distinctly illiberal turn in Indian politics. By contrast, democratic decline in Turkey has coincided with—and contributed to—a major deterioration in Ankara's relations with Washington, including significant divergence on a range of foreign policy issues.

There are no magic solutions to the democracy-security dilemma. But careful assessments of the security and political issues at stake can help U.S. policymakers avoid ad hoc approaches and diminish the long-standing tendency to back down reflexively on democracy and rights when clashing interests arise. Such assessments should address five key questions:

- First, what are the specific security interests that the partnership with the foreign government in question will help advance? Often, different parts of the U.S. government operate from different conceptions of the security interests at stake and rely on long-standing assumptions that persist on bureaucratic autopilot. To mitigate this, policymakers must identify and agree on the interests at stake in a given partnership to ensure they are operating from a clear shared understanding, at least within the U.S. government.
- Second, what is the relationship between the security interests that the United States hopes the partnership will serve and the problematic democratic situation of the partner? No simple relationship can be assumed. U.S. security interests may benefit, suffer, or remain unaffected if the democratic situation of the country improves. Candidly assessing the relationship will give policymakers a sense of what, if any, tensions exist between democracy and security objectives.
- Third, how might U.S. security interests be threatened if the United States pushes a particular security partner harder on democracy? Answering this question goes to the heart of weighing potential democracy-security trade-offs and requires close analysis that avoids the reflexive answer that pushing on democracy will immediately trigger a reduction in security collaboration.
- Fourth, how can the United States raise democracy and rights issues with a politically problematic security partner in a way that maximizes the potential to advance democratic progress? Engagement on democracy and rights should emphasize the country's self-interest and target not just individual rights cases but structural elements of democratic decline, while also clearly articulating U.S. redlines.
- Fifth, what is reasonable to expect to achieve by pushing harder on democracy? Too often, policymakers set the bar unrealistically high and conclude action is not worthwhile. Instead, they need to take a broader yet also more nuanced view of the potential benefits of pushing on democracy and rights issues.

Introduction

As President Joe Biden and his team seek to put the defense of democracy and protection of human rights at the center of U.S. foreign policy, they confront the stubborn fact that the United States maintains cooperative security relations with a wide range of undemocratic or democratically backsliding governments. Such situations frequently give rise to a policy dilemma: confronting these governments over their political shortcomings risks triggering hostility that would jeopardize the security benefits that such governments provide to Washington. Yet giving them a free pass on democracy and rights issues undercuts the credibility of U.S. appeals to values, bolstering the damaging perception that America only pushes for democracy against its adversaries or in strategically irrelevant countries. And if, as the Biden administration claims, democracy is the best system at delivering for people, soft-pedaling democracy may undermine the effort to help countries build effective political systems that will make them better partners in the long run.

Tensions between democracy and security are hardly a new feature of U.S. foreign policy. During the Cold War, the American-led effort to "defend the Free World" was marred by frequent U.S. decisions to partner with anticommunist autocrats who ruthlessly suppressed democratic movements in their countries. And while the anticommunist imperative faded after the collapse of the Soviet Union, the range of enduring U.S. interests—from maintaining geopolitical stability to countering terrorism—impelled U.S. policymakers to maintain close ties with undemocratic partners in many places. From former president Bill Clinton's support of the Suharto regime in Indonesia and George W. Bush's partnership with

Pakistani autocrat Pervez Musharraf to Barack Obama's ambivalence over supporting the Arab Spring movements against longtime autocratic allies, democracy-security tensions have surfaced regularly in recent decades.

These tensions receded somewhat during the administration of former president Donald Trump, but only because Trump downgraded the U.S. interest in supporting democracy internationally to such a low level. But with the Biden team upgrading democracy's place in U.S. foreign policy, clashes between democracy and security interests are once again multiplying. In his recent overview of Biden's foreign policy, Richard Haass summarized the broader strategic context of these choices: "U.S. presidents have always allowed professed commitments to human rights and democracy to be set aside when other interests or priorities have come to the fore. . . . But the broader shift in U.S. foreign policy today, with its stress on both great-power competition and short-term domestic priorities, has made those trade-offs more frequent and acute." Already in the first year of Biden's presidency, such tensions have emerged in relations with countries as diverse as Egypt, Hungary, India, the Philippines, Poland, Saudi Arabia, and Turkey. While the Biden administration has publicly and privately raised democracy and rights issues with various security partners, its cautious approach toward several security partners has started to attract criticism from some observers who feel that near-term security interests have been too strongly prioritized compared to democracy and human rights concerns.²

As in any dilemma, there is no magic solution or perfect balance between pursuing democracy and security interests. But if the Biden administration is to fulfill its pledge to significantly upgrade U.S. support for democracy and human rights globally, it will need to find ways to advance the agenda in cases where the democracy-security dilemma is present. To that end, this paper looks in depth at the democracy-security dilemma with a view to helping U.S. policymakers deal with it more systematically and effectively. The objective of the paper is not to facilitate any sort of policy uniformity across the many different country contexts where the dilemma presents itself—our analysis emphasizes the variety and complexity of the ways in which the dilemma appears and must be dealt with. We find, for example, that the relationship between democratic health and closeness of security ties is far from linear: in India, autocratization has coincided with closer security ties with the United States, while in Turkey, the polar opposite has been true. Rather, our aim is to provide an analytic framework that can help policymakers ask and answer the critical questions that need to be considered when addressing the dilemma. We also seek to highlight some of the mistaken assumptions that policymakers bring to such contexts.

We note here several limitations on the paper's scope. First, this paper is not an exploration of whether the United States should seek to support democracy internationally; rather, it proceeds from the premise that the Biden administration sincerely wishes to make democracy support a key part of its foreign policy and focuses on the challenges of doing so

with certain types of security partners. Second, we do not delve into or take a position on the ongoing debates about the overall scope of U.S. security interests—we take the Biden administration's relatively expansive view of those interests, as set out in the March 2021 Interim National Security Strategic Guidance, as a policy given.³ And finally, we do not explore the negative democratic impacts of certain forms of security collaboration. While U.S. support like military assistance or intelligence cooperation may contribute very directly to keeping undemocratic regimes in place, this paper does not deal with this problem directly; rather, our focus is on U.S. choices of whether, when, and how to push or assist politically problematic security partners to do better on democracy and rights.⁴

This paper proceeds in three parts. We begin with a brief overview of some of the major security interests that have been driving recent U.S. administrations to cultivate close ties with many undemocratic governments. We then present in-depth studies of three key cases where the democracy-security dilemma has risen to the fore: U.S. relations with Egypt, India, and Turkey. Finally, we conclude with a series of policy recommendations for how best to understand and manage the tension between democracy and security interests.

The cases under study here embody many of the variations and complexities inherent in the democracy-security dilemma. All three countries have long had significant security ties with Washington. The United States has for decades viewed peace between Egypt and Israel as crucial to regional security and provides over \$1 billion per year in security assistance to the Egyptian armed forces. Turkey is a longtime ally in the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO). India has become a key partner in the campaign to build a "Free and Open Indo-Pacific" as a charter member of the Quadrilateral Security Dialogue, the new linchpin of the U.S. security posture in Asia. Yet all three have glaring democratic shortcomings. Since the military takeover led by General Abdel Fattah el-Sisi in 2013, Egypt's political space has shrunk dramatically amid a brutal crackdown on opposition. Turkey's democracy is badly ailing, with President Recep Tayyip Erdoğan having greatly increased repression and limited political pluralism over the past decade. And Prime Minister Narendra Modi has moved India further along a troubling path of political illiberalism, spurring the Varieties of Democracy Institute in its 2021 rankings to demote India from an electoral democracy to an electoral autocracy.5

To better understand how policy trade-offs have been made over time, the paper traces the relationship between U.S. democracy concerns and security interests vis-à-vis these countries across the administrations of George W. Bush, Barack Obama, and Donald Trump and thus far under Joe Biden. From these three country studies we extract some broader lessons and propose a framework for analyzing contexts where democracy and security interests clash, with a view to helping policymakers find ways to maintain or develop at least some focus on democracy and rights even when significant security interests are at stake.

Dilemma Drivers

The Biden administration's Interim National Security Strategic Guidance asserts that maintaining American security "requires us to meet challenges not only from great powers and regional adversaries, but also from violent and criminal non-state actors and extremists, and from threats like climate change, infectious disease, cyberattacks, and disinformation that respect no national borders."6 This threat assessment—the latest version of the expansive perspective that has long prevailed among the U.S. foreign policy establishment—translates into a very broad set of security interests. In attempting to match these expansive ends to the United States' inevitably limited means, U.S. policymakers pursue partnerships with a wide range of countries of all political stripes.⁷ Out of the wide range of American national security priorities, three in particular have impelled U.S. security partnerships with autocrats and democratic backsliders over the last two decades.

The first is the international effort to fight terrorism. After George W. Bush launched the global war on terror, the United States stepped up its efforts to secure cooperation with dozens of authoritarian or semi-authoritarian governments on counterterrorism issues.8 This became a top priority in the Middle East, but has also been a key driver of partnerships in many other places, including South and Southeast Asia, Central Asia, and, more recently, sub-Saharan Africa. The extraordinary breadth of U.S. counterterrorism actions and engagements means that clashes with democracy and rights concerns remain widespread: the United States engaged in counterterrorism cooperation with eighty-five countries between 2018 and 2020, most of which are democratically deficient. Whether building drone bases in Niger, conducting special operations in Iraq, or providing training to Tajik security forces, the imperative of countering terrorism continues to drive a vast range of cooperative security activities with dozens of autocratic or democratically backsliding governments.

Second, maintaining regional security in the Middle East continues to produce many democracy-security dilemmas. Since the Desert Storm era, the United States has leaned heavily on autocratic partners throughout the region to provide basing rights, support U.S. military operations, share intelligence, and coordinate regional security initiatives. Even as Washington starts to seriously contemplate backing away from its longtime, forward-leaning security posture in the region, the value of close partnerships with countries like Egypt, Jordan, Saudi Arabia, and the United Arab Emirates remains an article of faith for many parts of the U.S. defense, intelligence, and diplomatic establishments.

Third, a growing driver of trade-offs between democracy and security is the expanding U.S. effort to manage strategic competition with China. While ensuring a "free and open Indo-Pacific" rests on partnerships with key democratic allies, above all Australia, Japan, and South Korea, the U.S. response to China's rise also involves maintaining or deepening security ties with a range of democratic backsliders, like India and the Philippines, as well as some outright autocracies like Thailand and Vietnam.

The geopolitical scope and functional diversity of the democracy-security dilemma in U.S. foreign policy is striking. The security partnerships that pose the dilemma range from relatively transactional relationships rooted in very specific areas of common action to comprehensive partnerships that entail deep cooperation across a host of areas. Similarly varied is the range of democracy and rights issues at stake. In some fully authoritarian contexts, Washington may be focused on encouraging the government to reduce the severity of ongoing repression or contemplate some very basic forms of political liberalization. In competitive authoritarian contexts, the emphasis might instead be on guaranteeing political rights for the opposition, maintaining whatever space exists for independent civil society, or safeguarding at least a modicum of independent media. And in countries where backsliding is just starting, U.S. policymakers may focus instead on curtailing illiberal rhetoric, preserving the integrity of electoral processes, or stepping back from efforts to undercut judicial independence.

To illuminate in detail some of the varieties and complexities of the democracy-security dilemma, we turn now to the three case studies, one of which (Egypt) presents a situation with a consolidated authoritarian regime, one (Turkey) a competitive authoritarian regime, and one (India) a fairly recent backslider.

Egypt

Egypt became a close security partner of the United States after making peace with Israel in the late 1970s. Since that time, it has been one of the largest recipients of U.S. security assistance, receiving more than \$50 billion. 10 The U.S. interest in this security partnership, primarily Egypt's continued peaceful co-existence with Israel, has largely trumped whatever concerns U.S. administrations have had about the authoritarian politics that have prevailed in Egypt for most of the last forty years. Up until the mid-2000s, this U.S. acceptance of Egyptian authoritarianism was never seriously questioned within policy circles. In the past fifteen years, however, the issue has periodically emerged as a source of contention between the two governments.

Democracy on the Table

Issues of democracy and human rights first arose in a significant way in U.S.-Egypt relations during the presidency of George W. Bush.¹¹ As Bush and his team gravitated toward the idea that supporting democracy would undercut the roots of violent Islamic radicalism in the Middle East, they viewed Egypt as a critical case for their new push on democracy. To that end, Bush surprised Hosni Mubarak, Egypt's president at the time, by openly nudging

him on the country's democratic deficit. That effort, and related actions by senior members of Bush's team, did not go far in the face of stonewalling on the part of the Egyptian leader. 12 The Bush administration's general enthusiasm for democratic change in Arab countries faded fairly quickly as the administration became bogged down in Iraq and the victory of Hamas in the 2006 Palestinian elections raised the specter of Arab political liberalization yielding Islamist gains.

The democracy issue re-emerged when massive anti-Mubarak protests hit Egypt in early 2011 amid the broader Arab Spring movement. Barack Obama and his team agonized over whether to support the protesters and what stance to take vis-à-vis Mubarak. Despite the accusations by some critics that Obama threw Mubarak under the proverbial bus, in fact, Obama and his team supported Mubarak up until the point when, in late January 2011, it became clear the Egyptian leader could not survive the protests. Recognizing the regime's fragility and the extent of popular opposition, Obama stated in a February 1 speech that "what is clear —and what I indicated tonight to President Mubarak—is my belief that an orderly transition must be meaningful, it must be peaceful, and it must begin now."13 Ten days later, Mubarak resigned.

The Obama administration then tried to bolster Egypt's shaky democratic transition by supporting elections, stepping up democracy-related assistance, and attempting to work constructively with Egypt's first elected civilian president, Mohamed Morsi. But after the military coup in July 2013 that brought Sisi to power—which the Obama administration notably opted not to designate as a coup, as doing so would have had far-reaching implications for the security relationship under U.S. law—Washington failed to maintain a significant focus on democracy and rights concerns.¹⁴

Relations were complicated by Sisi's aggressive crackdown in the weeks and months after the coup. When Egyptian security forces slaughtered at least 800 pro-Morsi protesters in Raba'a Square and Nahda Square in August 2013, the White House condemned the actions and canceled a joint military exercise with the Egyptians. ¹⁵ Obama stated that "our traditional cooperation cannot continue as usual when civilians are being killed." Two months later, the State Department announced a "recalibration" of assistance to Egypt: it would not complete the scheduled deliveries of AH-64 Apache helicopters, M1 Abrams tanks, and Harpoon anti-ship missiles to Egypt.¹⁷ The next year, Congress stipulated that in order for the planned \$1.3 billion in military assistance to be disbursed to Egypt, the Sisi-led government would need to hold a constitutional referendum, take steps toward a democratic transition, and hold parliamentary and presidential elections. 18

Yet as Sisi consolidated his regime, the Obama administration wavered. Within a few months, shortly after Egypt began participating in military operations as a member of the Global Coalition to Defeat ISIS, the Obama administration backed off its restrictions on aid and announced that the previously withheld Apache helicopters would be delivered to Egypt.¹⁹ It also released \$650 million in foreign military financing (FMF) despite then U.S. secretary of defense Chuck Hagel's determination that the United States was "not yet able to certify that Egypt is taking steps to support a democratic transition."20 The administration continued to waive human rights conditions for military aid packages over the following years, citing national security interests.

By 2015, the White House was openly pushing for human rights and democracy aid conditionality to be removed from appropriations legislation so that it would not have to issue an awkward certification of political progress that was clearly not actually happening. After a call with Sisi in March 2015, Obama announced that he would lift holds on military equipment delivery that had been in place since October 2013 and would once again seek \$1.3 billion annually in military assistance for Egypt.²¹ Obama stressed that future military assistance for Egypt would be refocused on the core areas in which U.S. and Egyptian interests aligned, namely counterterrorism efforts, maritime security, border security, Sinai security, and the maintenance of Egypt's existing weapons arsenal.²² But the core fact remained: military aid continued to flow.

The Trump Years

Any lingering tensions between security priorities and democracy support fell away altogether during the Trump administration. Trump warmly embraced Sisi as his "favorite dictator" early in his presidency and publicly confirmed his faith in the United States' security partnership with Egypt, stating, "I just want to let everybody know in case there was any doubt that we are very much behind President al-Sisi. He's done a fantastic job in a very difficult situation."23 Trump maintained this effusive stance throughout his presidency despite the fact that the Egyptian regime grew even more repressive, cracking down brutally against political opponents, civic activists, and intellectuals, including some U.S. citizens. Trump warmly received Sisi at the White House in 2019 and, at Sisi's request, engaged the United States in Egypt and Sudan's ongoing dispute with Ethiopia over the Grand Ethiopian Renaissance Dam. Washington brokered talks between the two sides, and, after they broke down and Ethiopia began filling the dam, then U.S. secretary of state Mike Pompeo froze over \$100 million in aid to push Ethiopia toward a settlement agreement.²⁴

Some minor limits to U.S.-Egyptian security cooperation were visible during the Trump years. The Trump administration considered designating the Muslim Brotherhood as a foreign terrorist organization in 2019, which would have fulfilled a long-time goal of Egypt's, but it ultimately chose not to do so.²⁵ In addition, while Egypt initially joined Trump's Middle East Strategic Alliance Initiative, a plan to contain Iranian power by building an "Arab NATO," it ultimately withdrew due to the risks associated with directly antagonizing Iran.²⁶ The United States and Egypt also faced tensions over their differing stances on Libya's two sets of opposing authorities, where the United States supported the Government of National Accord and Egypt supported the Libyan National Army led by Khalifa Haftar. Sisi also continued to diversify Egypt's arms procurement strategy, including through a \$2 billion purchase of Russian Su-35 fighter jets, which forced Washington to consider whether to respond with sanctions under the Countering America's Adversaries Through Sanctions Act. 27

Overall, however, friendship between Washington and Cairo flourished during the Trump years and was rarely encumbered by human rights or democracy concerns. The most significant action the Trump administration took on democracy-related issues was to withhold aid on the basis of Egypt's adoption of a law that limited foreign funding for domestic nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) and enduring U.S. frustration over Egypt's 2013 conviction of NGO workers (including from the U.S.-based International Republican Institute and National Democratic Institute). In August 2017, then secretary of state Rex Tillerson notified the Egyptian government that his department was placing an executive hold on \$195 million in FMF until the government overturned the convictions and loosened the law. This pressure resulted in limited concessions as an Egyptian court acquitted some of the foreign NGO workers and suspended implementation of the NGO law; Pompeo eventually released the funds in 2018.28

A late highlight of the Trump administration's inaction on human rights in Egypt came in 2020, when some officials at the State Department reportedly proposed a freeze on up to \$300 million in conditioned FMF in response to the death of Mustafa Kassem, a dual Egyptian-U.S. citizen who died while imprisoned on spurious terrorism-related charges. Pompeo balked.²⁹ Instead, when pressed on the matter in a congressional hearing, Pompeo highlighted the difference between autocrats who are "trying to wipe entire nations off the face of the Earth" and others, like Sisi, who "are actually partnering with us to help keep America safe."30

Biden's Turn

As a presidential candidate, Joe Biden raised hopes among some observers for a fundamental rebalancing of the U.S.-Egypt relationship. In July 2020, Biden tweeted that there would be "no more blank checks for Trump's favorite dictator," and in November of that year, Secretary of State-designate Antony Blinken publicly criticized the arrest of staffers at the Egyptian Initiative for Personal Rights, a prominent rights group.³¹ Recognizing that the environment in Washington was about to change, Sisi's government released the prisoners—and underwrote a \$65,000-per-month lobbying initiative to bolster Egypt's reputation.³² Despite their elevated rhetoric on democracy and rights, the Biden team approved \$200 million in missile sales to Egypt in February 2021.³³ At the same time, Biden personally sought to keep a principled distance from Sisi's repression, refusing to call the Egyptian leader for the first four months of his term and ordering a U.S. sign-on to criticism of Egypt at the UN Human Rights Council.34

The dynamic shifted in May 2021. Facing a surge in violence between Israel and Hamas, Biden's team leaned heavily on Egypt to broker a ceasefire, which it duly delivered. Biden rewarded Sisi for this effort with two phone calls, a pledge to keep an open line of communication, and a friendly visit from Blinken. Though both Biden and Blinken raised human rights concerns—Blinken's discussion with Sisi on the topic reportedly lasted for an hour, while Biden sought to establish a "constructive" human rights dialogue—Sisi has taken little meaningful action in response.³⁵

Instead, Sisi may have been emboldened by the warming ties with the United States: in June, his spy chief, Abbas Kamel, reportedly pressed members of the U.S. Congress on why Egyptian-American human rights activist Mohamed Soltan had not been imprisoned in the United States.³⁶ This bizarre incident came at an awkward time for the Biden administration, which was grappling with whether or not to continue the long pattern of issuing a national security waiver to provide Egypt with military aid despite the terrible human rights situation. Reflecting rising frustration within the administration at Egypt's inaction, however, the president decided in September not to waive conditionality and to withhold \$130 million out of the \$300 million in conditioned aid. The administration reportedly communicated new conditions for the aid to be released, demanding that Egypt end a series of prosecutions against civil society organizations and drops charges against or release sixteen individuals whose cases Washington has repeatedly raised with Sisi.³⁷

In short, Biden's determination to elevate the place of democracy and rights in U.S. policy toward Sisi's Egypt has already clashed sharply with the deeply rooted habit of maintaining close security ties with the country. The result so far has been more continuity than change. Washington's desire to push on these issues has not translated into actions that would call into question the main elements of the decades-old partnership. Yet the Biden administration will almost certainly continue to look for ways to persuade or pressure the Egyptian leader to curtail his extraordinarily repressive and antidemocratic domestic policies, though it remains unclear whether the United States will be willing to go further in using security assistance—its primary source of leverage— to achieve this objective.

Turkey

Since the end of the Cold War, U.S.-Turkish relations have moved steadily away from the shared strategic outlook established in the years after World War II. Especially during the past two decades, Turkish and U.S. policies have diverged as Turkey, under the leadership of Erdoğan, has pursued a more unilateral and confrontational foreign policy in the Middle East, North Africa, and the Eastern Mediterranean, while the United States has pursued regional stability and counterterrorism in ways that have often run counter to Turkey's wishes. Although Turkey remains a treaty ally as a member of NATO, strategic frictions between the two countries have multiplied and the overall bilateral relationship has become deeply mistrustful and frequently antagonistic. This evolution has occurred in parallel with the

deterioration of Turkish democracy under Erdoğan's rule and the collapse of the idea, which once held sway among U.S. policymakers, that Turkey could serve as a democratic model for other Muslim-majority countries.

Descent Into Antagonism

Though the United States and Turkey were closely aligned in the early 2000s—Turkey was the first Muslim-majority nation to express condolences over the September 11 attacks and readily sent troops to support the U.S.-backed invasion of Afghanistan—cracks began to emerge as the United States ramped up its war in Iraq.³⁸ Despite Erdoğan's initial willingness to support the U.S. intervention in Iraq, concerns within the Turkish policy establishment quickly grew over the possibility that the intervention would destabilize the country and would allow a semi-autonomous Kurdish state to emerge in Iraq's northern regions.³⁹ Many Turkish observers feared that such a development might energize separatists among the millions of Kurds living in the eastern regions of Turkey and bolster the Kurdistan Workers' Party (PKK), a militia the Turkish government has battled intermittently since 1984. Turkish public opposition to the war and concerns that it would inflame separatism led the Turkish parliament to vote against authorizing the United States to use Turkish bases and ports for an invasion of Iraq, upending U.S. military planning and sowing animosity between the Pentagon and the Turkish National Defense Ministry. 40

Yet at the same time, Bush and his team, striving to hold out democracy as the solution to violent Islamic radicalism globally, embraced the idea of Turkey as an example of democratic success in a Muslim-majority country. National security officials like Paul Wolfowitz, who declared that Turkey "can be an example for the Muslim World," sought to project confidence that a Turkish model might work in other Muslim-majority countries including, notably, Iraq.⁴¹ This quickly became the administration's central refrain on Turkish democracy. Bush encapsulated this in 2004, when he declared in a visit to Turkey that "your country, with 150 years of democratic and social reform, stands as a model to others, and as Europe's bridge to the wider world."42

During the Obama years, additional strategic differences began to accumulate. Two early points of contention were Erdoğan's increasingly fractious relations with Israel and Turkey's decision in 2010 to vote in the UN Security Council against sanctioning Iran over its nuclear program. The unfolding of the Arab Spring added significant new complexities to the U.S.-Turkish relationship. Turkey saw the sudden surge of political energy in various Arab countries as a chance to support the Muslim Brotherhood's quest for greater political power across the region. Although it cast this policy as pro-democratic, it diverged in important ways from the U.S. approach to the region, especially vis-à-vis Egypt after the removal of Mohamed Morsi in 2013.

Yet the key strategic divergence during this era was over Syria. Although the United States and Turkey had both opposed Syrian President Bashar al-Assad in the early days of the civil war, the rise of the self-proclaimed Islamic State in 2014–2015 changed the American strategic outlook. Looking to avoid an extensive boots-on-the-ground commitment, the United States sought Turkey's aid in countering the Islamic State, which was rapidly expanding along the Turkish border. Yet Erdoğan demurred; as a result, the United States pivoted to a partnership with the Syrian Democratic Forces (SDF), a group composed largely of Kurdish militias like the People's Protection Units (YPG). Diverging views over each country's interests in the conflict—the United States prioritized countering the Islamic State, while Turkey viewed Assad's regime as the bigger threat—were exacerbated by the Turkish government's belief that the YPG and, by extension, the SDF, were aligned with the PKK. 43 This severely hampered U.S.-Turkish cooperation in the conflict, and Turkey has continually accused the United States of supporting anti-Turkish terrorists—an objection that became more domestically salient as peace talks with the PKK collapsed and violence surged in 2015 and 2016.⁴⁴

Throughout the first Obama administration, the president and his team clung to the line that Turkey was a democratic model for the region. ⁴⁵ Reluctance to give up on this notion led Washington to overlook or downplay the sharp antidemocratic trend in Turkey, which was marked by Erdoğan's growing efforts to constrain space for political opposition, restrict independent civil society, and reduce press freedom. This U.S. stance finally broke down in 2013 when Erdoğan's violent repression of the Gezi Park protests threw into sharp relief how far Turkish democracy had deteriorated. As Obama and his team shifted toward a chillier, more transactional approach to Erdoğan, the Turkish leader began depicting United States as a power bent on undermining Turkish political sovereignty and stability. 46 This dynamic only accelerated in the wake of the 2016 coup attempt against Erdoğan, which he blamed on the U.S.-based cleric Fethullah Gülen and, by extension, the U.S. government. The ensuing crackdown—including the imprisonment of tens of thousands of alleged Gülenists—further cemented Washington's view of Turkey's antidemocratic realities and underscored Erdoğan's determination to make the United States Turkey's greatest political bogeyman.⁴⁷

The Trump Years

During the Trump administration, antagonism between Ankara and Washington on strategic matters intensified as Turkey moved further along its path of strategic autonomy. Erdoğan's decision to acquire Russia's S-400 missile defense system, and to develop closer relations with Russia more generally, produced serious unhappiness in Washington and other NATO capitals. Tensions continued to simmer over the conflicting approaches to the Kurdish forces, although Trump's drawdown of U.S. forces and acquiescence to Turkey's assault on Kurds in northern Syria reflected Trump's wish to disengage from the Syrian conflict—a position that put him in alignment with Erdoğan, but at odds with virtually

all of his advisers, including secretary of defense Jim Mattis, who resigned in protest at the move. 48 A naval confrontation in 2020 between Turkey and Greece over energy claims in the Eastern Mediterranean and Turkey's support for Azerbaijan in the Nagorno-Karabakh war further muddied the waters. Trump maintained an open, and in some ways friendly, line to Erdoğan as part of his forgiving approach toward many foreign strongmen leaders. Yet the rest of the U.S. foreign policy establishment, including the most influential voices in Congress, essentially gave up on Erdoğan as a security partner, seeing him as an unreliable political and geostrategic provocateur. The White House's decision in July 2019 to block the sale of F-35s to Turkey, coupled with Congress's quiet refusal to approve any arms sales to Turkey from 2018 onward, punctuated this shift.⁴⁹

In keeping with Trump's disinclination to push on democracy and human rights issues, his administration exerted no systematic criticism or pressure on Turkey relating to its ever-worsening domestic political situation. The only exceptions were a few selective human rights cases. The most visible of these involved Andrew Brunson, an American evangelical pastor at a small church in Izmir, who was arrested in the post-2016 repressive sweep in Turkey and charged with working with U.S. intelligence services, Gülenist elements, and Kurdish extremists to overthrow the government. The Trump team, especially Pompeo and then vice president Mike Pence—urged on by U.S. evangelicals—undertook strong efforts to get Brunson released, including imposing Global Magnitsky sanctions against Turkey's interior and justice ministers in 2018.⁵⁰

Biden's Turn

The strategic divergence between the United States and Turkey has continued to grow under the Biden administration. Biden inherited a relationship already strained by Turkey's acquisition of the S-400 missile system, U.S. resourcing of the SDF, and Erdoğan's anti-American rhetoric. This compounding mutual frustration has deepened as the Biden administration has elevated democracy and rights alongside security concerns.

Biden has taken a markedly different tone on democracy and rights than his predecessors. During his campaign, he candidly referred to Erdoğan as an "autocrat" and suggested in a private meeting with editors at the New York Times that he would make it "clear that we support opposition leadership" and would embolden those leaders to "take on and defeat Erdoğan."51 Since assuming office, the president has projected a calculated coldness toward Erdoğan. Biden was in office for three months before he called the Turkish leader—and only then to tell him that the administration would officially recognize the Armenian genocide.⁵²

More than any recent administration, Biden's team has openly called out Turkey's declining democratic environment. U.S. officials have criticized the imprisonment of philanthropist Osman Kavala, a government crackdown on student protesters, Turkey's withdrawal from the Istanbul Convention on preventing violence against women, and proposals to dissolve the opposition People's Democratic Party.⁵³ Turkey also spurred the ire of U.S. diplomats

when it used its veto power to water down a NATO statement condemning Belarusian President Alexander Lukashenko's forced landing of a Ryanair flight carrying dissident Roman Protasevich.⁵⁴ In a hearing in July 2021 on U.S.-Turkey relations, Undersecretary of State for Political Affairs Victoria Nuland underscored that the U.S. government is engaging the Turkish government at all levels on multiple specific rights cases, as well as conveying concerns about declining media freedom, threats to free assembly and association, declining judicial dependence, and eroding fair trial guarantees.⁵⁵

Amid a deepening economic and popularity crisis at home, Erdoğan's response to these criticisms has been more muted than his fiery reactions to earlier episodes of U.S. political engagement. Instead, Erdoğan has carried out a modest charm offensive to ease strains with the West. He has complied with U.S. and EU demands to back down from maritime conflicts in the Eastern Mediterranean, stepped up in Afghanistan in the wake of the U.S. withdrawal, and refused to inflame domestic outrage over the Armenian genocide designation. These moves improved the tone of the relationship slightly. After their meeting on the margins of the June 2021 NATO summit, Biden and Erdoğan projected vague optimism about their ability to resolve outstanding issues in the relationship.⁵⁶ Yet democracy and human rights were apparently left off of the agenda for their conversation, raising questions about how hard the United States is willing to push on the issue.

In sum, with the transition from Trump to Biden, Turkey's democratic decline now registers as a serious concern in the White House alongside the battery of frictions that have arisen from Turkey's anti-Western antagonism and the two countries' diverging strategic perspectives. As Biden and his team highlight their unhappiness over democracy and human rights issues, they recognize that relations are bound to be transactional and cool, at best, for the foreseeable future. Whether the Turkish leader might make concessions on either the domestic or foreign policy fronts, and possibly try to use positive action in one domain to counterbalance obstructions in another, is a critical but murky question.

India

In stark contrast to the widening gulf between the United States and Turkey, Washington's relations with India have grown significantly closer over the past twenty years. After decades of intermittently frosty ties during the Cold War, shaped especially by India's strategic neutrality and the United States' episodically close relations with Pakistan, the trajectory of the U.S.-India relationship shifted drastically around the turn of the millennium. Ballooning trade and investment flows between India and the United States grew alongside shared geostrategic interests—none more so than countering China's growing presence and assertiveness in South Asia and the Indian Ocean region. Though this rapprochement transcended political divides on both sides, it has accelerated significantly since Modi's rise

in the mid-2010s. Modi has been willing to confront the traditional Indian taboo of close security engagement with the United States and has been an eager partner in the U.S.backed campaign to ensure a "Free and Open Indo-Pacific." Yet Modi's illiberal moves at home have strained the shared values inherent in the U.S.-India relationship, giving rise to the difficult challenge of confronting an important security partner over its increasingly antidemocratic actions.

Roots of Rapprochement

Although the United States and India remained mutually distrustful during the Cold War era as a result of India's nonaligned foreign policy and nuclear ambitions, the two countries began laying the foundations for a more cooperative relationship in the early 2000s. Bush made overtures to India after the attacks of September 11, 2001, including by lifting the sanctions imposed after India's 1998 nuclear test and by opening dialogues on a number of key issues. This momentum accelerated even further with the completion of the Civilian Nuclear Cooperation Initiative, which effectively removed U.S. objections to India's nuclear weapon program, generated over \$100 billion of investment, and opened the door to even closer security and economic links. Having overcome this key barrier, Washington and New Delhi moved rapidly to increase trade between the two countries, deepen new partnerships in multiple issue areas, and foster security cooperation around shared interests in counterterrorism and limiting China's influence in the broader Indo-Pacific.

A parallel area of collaboration between the Bush administration and the Indian government was on democracy. The two governments were especially focused on strengthening multilateral approaches on democracy and human rights. To that end, the Bush administration worked with India to launch a Democracy Caucus at the United Nations (UN), include India in the Community of Democracies, and increase joint contributions to the UN Democracy Fund.⁵⁷

This strong momentum carried forward into the Obama years, though at a somewhat slower pace. The Obama administration worked to deepen counterterrorism cooperation with New Delhi, which was especially important to India in the aftermath of the 2008 Mumbai terrorist attacks. Economic ties continued to expand, though previously existing tensions remained, including over Indian tariffs, the offshoring of U.S. service sector jobs, intellectual property issues, and divergent approaches to multilateral trade accord negotiations. In a visit to India in 2010, Obama signaled support for India's bid for a permanent UN Security Council seat—while noting that India would have new responsibilities, including to champion democratic institutions and human rights. Obama also announced that he would support Indian membership in multiple nuclear nonproliferation agreements, including the Nuclear Suppliers Group and the Missile Technology Control Regime. Obama's support for India's aspirations to be a global strategic player was well received in India.

Modi's rise to power in 2014 facilitated the further strengthening of strategic ties with the United States. In early 2015, Modi and Obama unveiled a Joint Strategic Vision for the Asia-Pacific and Indian Ocean Region. Security cooperation grew from there, with Obama declaring India a "major defense partner" and entering into a number of defense agreements with India, including multiple arms deals. By the end of his eight years in office, India's importance to the United States' emerging Indo-Pacific strategy had become clear. Broad bipartisan support in the United States for partnership with India—along with an enthusiastic Modi—accelerated the deepening of strategic linkages.⁵⁸

Yet while Modi moved toward even closer security relations, his illiberal politics challenged shared approaches on democracy. Obama commented in his memoir that concerns over the well-being of Indian democracy were central to his perception of the bilateral relationship from his first meeting with then prime minister Manmohan Singh in 2009, especially inasmuch as the Congress Party leadership warned of the ascendant nationalism and anti-Muslim sentiment being espoused by Modi's Bharatiya Janata Party (BJP).⁵⁹ The issue became especially salient with the election of Modi, who had been banned from entering the United States over his failure to halt the 2002 anti-Muslim riots in Gujarat, where he was governor at the time. Amid an uptick in forced conversions, religious violence, and hostility toward dissenting voices, Obama called on Indians during his 2015 visit to the country to curb violence and discrimination against women, promote religious and racial tolerance, and empower young people.⁶⁰ Upon his return, he mentioned India's religious tensions at the National Prayer Breakfast, stating that "in past years, religious faiths of all types have, on occasion, been targeted by other peoples of faith, simply due to their heritage and their beliefs—acts of intolerance that would have shocked Gandhiji, the person who helped to liberate that nation."61 Beyond that, however, the Obama administration's public engagement on democracy and rights issues in India was relatively light, likely owing to a combination of not wanting to ruffle feathers in the warming relationship and the mixed signals in what was still the early stage of India's democratic backsliding.

The Trump Years

The U.S.-India relationship continued along on its friendly course under the Trump administration. Reflecting Trump's broader foreign policy priorities, trade and security issues remained the main focus. Growing concerns in both Washington and New Delhi about China's regional assertiveness—including along the Sino-Indian border—cemented the U.S.-India security partnership. Reflecting this, Trump's National Security Strategy shifted terminology away from "Asia-Pacific" to "Indo-Pacific," a rhetorical change that signaled a rethinking of the scope of the China challenge. This strategic reframing coincided with the rise of the Quadrilateral Security Dialogue, or the Quad-which includes India alongside the United States, Australia, and Japan—as a democratic counterweight to Chinese ambitions.62

U.S.-Indian defense cooperation accelerated during the Trump era. The Modi government finalized billions of dollars in arms purchases from the United States—though it did not accede to Trump's demands to stop purchasing Russian equipment, including the S-400. U.S. and Indian forces collaborated in tri-service military exercises and signed information and technology sharing agreements. Yet differences remained between the two countries about how to deal with China. While Trump ultimately settled on bellicose rhetoric; a trade war; and inflaming tensions over Taiwan, Uighurs, and Hong Kong, India sought a more balanced approach in navigating "antagonistic cooperation" with China, expanding trade and bilateral diplomacy even as border conflicts with China intensified.⁶³

As India's democratic slide accelerated, Trump and his team said and did little about it. Modi dealt effectively with Trump, feeding his desire for diplomatic shows and flattery, and Trump—being generally uninterested in democracy as part of U.S. foreign policy—was not overly concerned about Modi's democratic deficiencies. Even as Modi took increasingly illiberal actions, including enacting discriminatory citizenship laws and repressing dissent in Jammu and Kashmir, the Trump administration didn't blink. One Trump official did express concern about declining religious freedom in India, but this was eclipsed by Trump's praise for Modi's religious tolerance during a visit to Delhi in February 2020—even as anti-Muslim riots were taking place only a few miles from where he spoke.⁶⁴

Biden's Turn

Building on nearly two decades of warming U.S.-India ties, the Biden administration has sought to broaden the scope of the strategic partnership between the two countries and deepen Indian integration into a shared security architecture. The administration views India's participation in the Quad as a centerpiece of this effort. In March 2021, Biden participated in the first-ever Quad Leaders' Meeting, which set out a shared vision and fostered cooperation on issues as diverse as technology regulation, climate change, and public health; Biden hosted another such summit in Washington in September. 65 The administration has worked to make U.S.-India military-to-military links more robust through multiple visits by high-level U.S. defense representatives to New Delhi and the acceleration of joint military exercises. 66 Additionally, Secretary of Homeland Security Alejandro Mayorkas and Indian Ambassador to the United States Taranjit Singh Sandhu agreed to resuscitate the U.S.-India Homeland Security Dialogue, which seeks to strengthen cooperation on cybersecurity, technology, and countering violent extremism.⁶⁷ The administration has complemented these security-oriented steps with stepped-up coronavirus aid—including sending over \$100 million in aid amid India's COVID-19 surge in April 2021—and the launching of a Clean Energy 2030 partnership.⁶⁸

At the same time, India's troubled record on democracy and human rights has returned as a source of tension. Though Modi has largely avoided high-profile moves that would trigger concerns externally, the Biden team is attentive to the overall illiberal trend in the country, including both declining tolerance for minorities and the degradation of democratic and judicial institutions. Senior U.S. officials, such as Blinken, have publicly called attention to shared political values between the two countries, including commitment to "human dignity, in equality of opportunity, the rule of law, fundamental freedoms, including freedom of religion and belief," while also noting that amid democratic shortfalls, both sides should still seek to achieve those ideals.⁶⁹ The administration has raised these concerns privately, too: in his discussions with Modi and Foreign Minister S. Jaishankar during his July visit to New Delhi, Blinken noted human rights and democracy issues in the country as a significant U.S. interest.⁷⁰

In conclusion, warming relations with India have coincided with democratic backsliding under Modi. Though the U.S. administration's concerns about the state of democracy and human rights in India have not significantly changed the trajectory of the relationship, the Biden team is still seeking a path forward that balances democracy, rights, and values with the increasing geostrategic importance of the U.S.-India relationship.

A Policy Assessment Framework

U.S. relations with India, Turkey, and Egypt demonstrate many—though certainly not all of the different facets of the democracy-security dilemma in U.S. foreign policy. These cases highlight the complexity of the relationship between U.S. democracy and security interests and the fact that trade-offs can vary greatly over time, even within the confines of a single bilateral relationship. To address such complexities effectively, U.S. policymakers need to move beyond ad hoc approaches and discrete decisions that are not linked to a broader strategy—decisions, for example, about what the U.S. president or secretary of state should say about human rights to a particular friendly autocrat in an upcoming visit or how the United States should respond to a sudden incident of democratic regression in a partner country.

There is no one-size-fits-all approach to these policy choices. Rather, approaches to individual security partners should be determined by a common analytical framework. To develop policies in a consistent way, and to bolster efforts to support democracy and rights despite competing interests at stake, policymakers facing the democracy-security dilemma vis-à-vis a particular country should answer five key inter-related questions.

First, what are the specific security interests that the partnership with the foreign government in question will help advance?

This may seem as though it should be obvious, but often it is not. A quick survey of the U.S. interagency landscape with regard to any foreign partner will likely find many different, often clashing, views of what U.S. security interests are at stake. Such tensions are frequently not reconciled with each other and may not be fully reconcilable—but they must at least be acknowledged. Moreover, views within the U.S. government about how security partnerships further U.S. interests tend to calcify and continue on bureaucratic autopilot. U.S. security assistance to Egypt, for example, has persisted at the same level for nearly fifty years despite regional relations with Israel having fundamentally shifted. Regular reevaluation of such views is essential. As a starting point, then, policymakers must identify and articulate the interests at stake in a given security partnership—an exercise fundamental to good policymaking, but which, too often, has been overlooked in day-to-day execution of U.S. policy.

Second, what is the relationship between the security interests that the United States hopes the partnership will serve and the problematic democratic situation of the partner?

Any simplistic assumptions about this relationship must be eschewed. Three quite different scenarios turn up across different relationships: 1) U.S. security interests and the political state of the partner are not closely linked; 2) U.S. security interests will likely benefit if the democratic situation of the country improves; or 3) U.S. security interests may suffer if democracy advances. Moreover, different relationships between security interests and democratic progress can exist within a single country if there are very different U.S. security interests at play, as is often the case.

U.S. relations with Egypt highlight the complexities of this question. Different parts of the U.S. policy community have offered all three of the above answers in recent years to the basic question of how U.S. security interests in Egypt and the region are affected by Sisi's harsh authoritarian path. Perhaps the most common view within the foreign policy bureaucracy, especially the defense and intelligence sectors, is that Egypt is serving U.S. security interests well despite its regrettable autocratic politics—that, in effect, security and domestic politics are disconnected. Some would even go further and argue that political liberalization or democratization in Egypt might negatively affect U.S. security interests, citing, for example, the rise of the Muslim Brotherhood under the short-lived Morsi administration. Yet different voices, including many civil society actors, sometimes contend that Sisi's relentless repression may, over time, lead to greater radicalism and potential instability in Egypt. In other words, over the long term, U.S. security interests may well be hurt by Egypt's authoritarianism.

Turkey presents a contrasting picture. The rise of political illiberalism under Erdoğan's Justice and Development Party is strongly associated with the emergence of a unilateral Turkish foreign policy that is often antagonistic to U.S. security interests. Yet the

relationship of Turkish politics to U.S. security interests is complex when viewed in a longer-term perspective—Washington felt that its security interests were well served by Turkey when it was ruled by successive nondemocratic military governments prior to the 2000s. For some observers, therefore, the negative association for U.S. security interests is not with a lack of democracy per se in Turkey, but rather the rising power and policies of a particular political leader, Erdoğan, who in fact came to power through democratic means.

India offers still a different challenge. Thus far at least, India's rising illiberalism has not tangibly affected how the country serves U.S. security interests in the region—India is not a less willing or effective member of the Indo-Pacific partnership as a result of its democratic backsliding. The BJP's political hegemony may have even given it the latitude to make potentially unpopular decisions about expanding security ties with the United States, a longtime taboo in Indian politics. At the same time, U.S. policymakers and outside experts believe that India will be less diplomatically and economically successful if it continues to expand discrimination against minorities and constrain basic freedoms—and thus be a less robust security partner for the United States over time. But as with similar arguments regarding the long-term damage that Egypt's antidemocratic politics may have on its utility as a security partner, these arguments tend to only be persuasive to some parts of the policy community.

Third, how might U.S. security interests be threatened if the United States pushes a particular security partner harder on democracy?

A persistent tendency in the U.S. foreign policy bureaucracy is to assume a negative effect: that pushing the security partner on democracy issues will make it less helpful with regard to U.S. security objectives. This has been the assumption, for example, of many policymakers working on Egypt over the years, undergirding the persistent U.S. reluctance to push the Egyptian government on its antidemocratic and repressive politics.

Yet in many, arguably most, cases, the security interests that Washington hopes the partner will help with are mutual interests, not just those of the United States alone. India's willingness to take an increasingly tough stance vis-à-vis China is not something that it does because Washington wants it to, but out of its own self-interest. Egypt's brokering of peaceful relations between Hamas and Israel at times of crisis is very useful from Washington's point of view, but also serves Cairo's interests, since open conflict between Israel and Hamas could potentially destabilize Egypt. The notion that the security partner is taking a given stance on a certain issue as a favor to Washington—and thereby may abandon that stance if Washington is not nice to it—is frequently incorrect.

Moreover, policymakers should recognize that soft-pedaling concern over a democracy or rights issue will not necessarily ensure that a security partner will refrain from withholding cooperation on an important security issue. For example, the United States' relatively soft responses to Philippine President Rodrigo Duterte's illiberal actions have not stopped him

from threatening at various times to discontinue defense cooperation with the United States.⁷¹ The contrary is sometimes the case: if Washington comes on relatively strongly with its democracy or rights concerns, such as by having a top-level official raise it in a pointed fashion with a foreign counterpart, the partner government in question may calculate that this is a matter of real importance on the U.S. side and that pushing back by curtailing security cooperation may only result in still further escalation.

Of course, there will be some instances where U.S. security interests may in fact be impeded if U.S. relations with the security partner turn chillier as a result of greater attention to issues of human rights and democracy. The point is that a careful, sober analysis of this question needs to be carried out as part of formulating a policy stance. This analysis must not rest on an automatic assumption that any pressure at all may immediately turn the security partner away from the particular interests that the United States cares about.

Fourth, how can the United States raise democracy and rights issues with a politically problematic security partner in a way that maximizes the potential to advance democratic progress?

Where possible, calling attention to democracy issues should emphasize the self-interest of the government in question rather than just appealing to generic democratic principles and norms. This may mean highlighting how Turkish constraints on pro-Kurdish political parties might embolden groups like the PKK; how crackdowns on foreign-backed NGOs in India might hinder rural economic development; or how the politicization of legal institutions in Egypt hinders foreign investment. Such arguments have to be carefully tailored to the local context. But framing democracy and rights issues in terms of self-interest is not merely an exercise in artfulness about addressing difficult topics; instead, such arguments are critically important and more likely to be at least somewhat persuasive.

In pressing their case on democracy and rights with a foreign partner, U.S. policymakers often focus on specific human rights cases, particularly ones involving U.S. citizens like Andrew Brunson or Mohamed Soltan, who have been imprisoned in violation of their basic rights. A focus on such cases gives U.S. diplomats something very definite to press on, and when a positive response is achieved, allows them to point to definite results—with double points for having helped an American citizen and for making concrete progress on democracy and human rights.

Yet while these discrete interventions are undoubtedly important, policymakers should go beyond specific rights cases and give attention to core structural issues. These are often key democratic guardrails that are under attack—such as discriminatory citizenship laws in India, the banning of opposition parties in Turkey, and legal constraints on independent civil society in Egypt. Attention to such issues may well be less comfortable for U.S. policymakers—it will be perceived as more intrusive and much less welcome. Yet without it, U.S. policymakers are consigning themselves to addressing symptoms more than causes of democratic decline.

When the United States decides it will try to push for progress on democracy and rights, policymakers also need to be clear about what their redlines are. If and when democracy and rights violations begin to mount, the United States needs to set clear limits on what it will tolerate and be prepared to respond if those lines are crossed. U.S. presidents have set redlines after the fact with Egypt, for example—Obama suspended some security aid in response to massacres in 2013—but have generally relented after a matter of months. The message this sends is that U.S. frustration is fleeting and that any resulting pressure will be temporary. Instead, officials should prepare a menu of options, from issuing public statements to suspending aid or imposing sanctions, to rapidly deploy in the hopes of deterring future malign conduct. Such considerations are especially important when U.S. security aid has potentially played a role in rights violations, as a paramount U.S. concern must be avoiding complicity. Oversight and evaluation are a crucial part of this work.⁷²

Fifth, what is reasonable to expect to achieve by pushing harder on democracy?

Policymakers too often set an unrealistically high bar for progress on democracy and rights and decide they shouldn't proceed at all because they cannot meet it. They should not expect some modest pressure from Washington to reverse the overall path of democratic backsliding of a partner country or somehow turn an authoritarian partner into a liberal democracy. But they should not assume that they should not try to do anything on the democracy and rights front because such maximal goals are out of reach. Policymakers need to assess the sources, motivations, and patterns of the troubled democracy and rights situation of the partner in order to estimate whether enhanced U.S. engagement would motivate the leaders of the country in question to limit, at least to some degree, the range and severity of the antidemocratic conditions they oversee or new antidemocratic steps they are taking. Very different answers about what is possible will emerge in full authoritarian countries than in places where some degree of political competition still exists or where democratic backsliding is still incipient.

In addition, policymakers should not limit their expectations for positive change only to potential liberalizing actions by the partner government. They should also ask whether greater attention from the United States on democracy issues helps bolster the will and steadfastness of embattled leaders in civil society or the political opposition of the country in question. A common mistake is to think of the push on democracy and rights issues with a problematic security partner only in terms of effects on the government. But other parts of the political and civic communities are highly important and reactive to external signals. However, U.S. policymakers need to be careful of crossing the line between support and perceived (or real) interference in a foreign country's domestic politics. For example, pushing the government hard on maintaining electoral integrity may be more effective than expressing direct support for opposition forces.

U.S. officials should also evaluate the regional and global signaling effects of stepping engagement up on democracy with a particular country. Speaking out on democracy challenges in India, for example, may have positive signaling effects on other countries in South Asia given India's heft in the region; so, too, may raising these issues with Turkey signal what is in store if other NATO allies, like Hungary and Poland, continue down the path of democratic backsliding. There are often wider benefits to engaging on democracy and human rights, so policymakers should avoid the tendency to think of responses to the democracy-security dilemma in a particular country as relating only to that country.

By utilizing this framework to think through and develop policies toward specific countries, U.S. policymakers will not necessarily be able to resolve the inevitable difficulties that exist in trying to balance U.S. interests in supporting democracy globally while maintaining useful security relationships with democratically deficient partners. Clashes between these interests—as in any dilemma—involve very difficult trade-offs that are unlikely to bring about any simple resolution. This has been a reality of U.S. foreign policy for many decades and will likely continue to be for many more.

But such a framework can help the Biden administration and successor administrations craft policies that avoid ad hoc lurches in one direction and make trade-offs that reflect an accurate weighing of the gains and losses involved with all interests at stake. By doing so, they will be more likely to find productive ways to advance democracy and rights, even if only modestly, while also avoiding the powerful tendency to back down at the first hint of clashing interests.

About the Authors

Thomas Carothers is senior vice president for studies at the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, where he also co-directs the Democracy, Conflict, and Governance Program. He is a leading authority on international support for democracy and human rights.

Benjamin Press is a research assistant in the Democracy, Conflict, and Governance Program at the Carnegie Endowment, where he was formerly a James C. Gaither Junior Fellow.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Grace Anderson for invaluable research assistance and Frances Brown, Alper Coşkun, Amy Hawthorne, Nate Schenkkan, Murat Somer, Merve Tahiroğlu, Ashley Tellis, and Sinan Ülgen for their extremely helpful comments on a draft. They are also grateful to Carnegie's editorial and production team for their outstanding work on the paper, especially Samuel Brase, Haley Clasen, and Amy Mellon. Generous support from the Ford Foundation to the Carnegie Endowment helped make the research and writing of this paper possible. All views expressed herein are those of the authors alone.

Notes

- 1 Richard Haass, "The Age of America First," Foreign Affairs, November/December 2021.
- Nahal Toosi, "Biden Pulls Punches on Rights Abusers," *POLITICO*, September 15, 2021, https://www.politico.com/news/2021/09/15/saudi-myanmar-egypt-biden-rights-abusers-511911; Simon Lewis and Humeyra Pamuk, "Biden Put Rights at Heart of U.S. Foreign Policy. Then He Pulled Punches," Reuters, September 13, 2021, https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/biden-put-rights-heart-us-foreign-policy-then-he-pulled-punches-2021-09-13.
- 3 "Interim National Security Strategic Guidance," March 2021, White House, https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/NSC-1v2.pdf.
- 4 For a discussion of this issue in the Middle East for example, see Stephen Tankel, "The Use and Misuse of Security Assistance in the Middle East and North Africa," in Dafna H. Rand and Andrew P. Miller, eds., *Re-engaging the Middle East: A New Vision for U.S. Policy* (Brookings Institution Press, 2020): 239–256.
- 5 "Autocratization Turns Viral: Democracy Report 2021," Varieties of Democracy Institute, March 2021, https://www.v-dem.net/files/25/DR%202021.pdf.
- 6 Interim National Security Strategic Guidance, 9.
- 7 Ibid., 10.
- Thomas Carothers, "Promoting Democracy and Fighting Terror," *Foreign Affairs*, January/February 2003, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/2003-01-01/promoting-democracy-and-fighting-terror.
- 9 Stephanie Savell, "United States Counterterrorism Operations 2018–2020," Watson Institute for International and Public Affairs, Brown University, February 2021, https://watson.brown.edu/costsofwar/files/cow/imce/papers/2021/US%20Counterterrorism%20Operations%202018-2020%2C%20Costs%20of%20War.pdf.
- 10 "U.S. Relations With Egypt," U.S. Department of State Bureau of Near Eastern Affairs, January 5, 2021. https://www.state.gov/u-s-relations-with-egypt.

- 11 For an incisive analysis of U.S.-Egyptian relations over the past twenty years, and a strong argument for revising U.S. policy to place greater emphasis on democracy and rights issues, see Amy Hawthorne and Andrew P. Miller, "The United States and Egypt: Updating an Obsolete Relationship," in Dafna H. Rand and Andrew P. Miller, eds., Re-Engaging the Middle East: A New Vision for U.S. Policy (Brookings, 2020): 129–152.
- 12 "President Bush, Egyptian President Mubarak Meet with Reporters," The White House— President George W. Bush Archive, April 12, 2004, https://georgewbush-whitehouse.archives.gov/ news/releases/2004/04/20040412-3.html.
- 13 Barack Obama, "Remarks by the President on the Situation in Egypt," Obama White House Archive, February 1, 2011, https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/2011/02/01/ remarks-president-situation-egypt.
- 14 Mark Landler, "Aid to Egypt Can Keep Flowing, Despite Overthrow, White House Decides," New York Times, July 26, 2013, https://www.nytimes.com/2013/07/26/world/middleeast/ aid-to-egypt-can-keep-flowing-despite-overthrow-white-house-decides.html.
- 15 "US Cancels Major Military Exercise with Egypt," Al Jazeera, August 16, 2013. https:// www.aljazeera.com/news/2013/8/16/us-cancels-major-military-exercise-with-egypt.
- 16 Reid J. Epstein, "Obama Condemns Egypt Violence," POLITICO, August 15, 2013. https:// www.politico.com/story/2013/08/egypt-violence-obama-statement-095571.
- 17 Jen Psaki, "Press Statement: U.S. Assistance to Egypt," U.S. Department of State, October 9, 2013, https://2009-2017.state.gov/r/pa/prs/ps/2013/10/215258.htm.
- 18 Daniel L. Tavana, "U.S. Security Assistance to Egypt: Military Aid and Legislative Conditionality," Democratic Control of Armed Forces, 2015, 11, https://www.marsad.ly/wpcontent/uploads/sites/2/2016/01/Egypt-Civil-Military-Relations-Conference-Paper-Series.pdf.
- 19 Missy Ryan, "Obama Administration Ends Long Hold on Military Aid to Egypt," Washington Post, March 31, 2015, https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/national-security/obamaadministration-ends-long-hold-on-military-aid-to-egypt/2015/03/31/6f528c2c-d7d6-11e4-8103-fa84725dbf9d_story.html.
- 20 Ernesto Londoño, "U.S. to Partially Resume Aid to Egypt," Washington Post, April 22, 2014, https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/national-security/us-to-partially-resume-military-aidto-egypt/2014/04/22/b25f68c6-ca91-11e3-93eb-6c0037dde2ad_story.html. Although a national security waiver was not permitted under the 2014 appropriations bill, the administration was able to obtain an exemption from the human rights conditions of military aid for Egypt if deemed necessary for counterterrorism. As a result, despite pushback from some members of Congress, particularly Senator Patrick Leahy, due to Sisi's human rights abuses, the Obama administration justified military aid for Egypt based on increasing terrorist activities in the Sinai Peninsula and a broader concern that Russia would fill any gaps that emerged in the U.S.-Egyptian strategic relationship.
- "Readout of the President's Call with President al-Sisi of Egypt," Obama White House Archive, March 31, 2015, https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/2015/03/31/ readout-president-s-call-president-al-sisi-egypt.
- 22 Jeremy Sharp, "Egypt: Background and U.S. Relations," Congressional Research Service, March 24, 2017, 7, https://www.refworld.org/pdfid/58e240464.pdf.
- 23 Madeline Conway, "Trump: 'We Are Very Much Behind' Egypt's el-Sisi," *POLITICO*, April 3, 2017, https://www.politico.com/story/2017/04/trump-praises-egypt-abdel-fattah-el-sisi-236829.
- 24 Robbie Gramer, "U.S. Halts Some Foreign Assistance Funding to Ethiopia Over Dam Dispute With Egypt, Sudan," Foreign Policy, August 27, 2020, https://foreignpolicy.com/2020/08/27/ trump-africa-gerd-dam-us-halts-foreign-assistance-funding-ethiopia-over-dam-dispute-egyptsudan.

- 25 Daniel Benjamin and Jason Blazakis, "The Muslim Brotherhood Is Not a Terrorist Organization," Foreign Affairs, May 17, 2019, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/2019-05-17/ muslim-brotherhood-not-terrorist-organization.
- 26 Stephen Kalin and Jonathan Landay, "Exclusive: Egypt Withdraws From U.S.-led anti-Iran Security Initiative - Sources," Reuters, April 10, 2019. https://www.reuters.com/article/ususa-mesa-egypt-exclusive/exclusive-egypt-withdraws-from-u-s-led-anti-iran-securityinitiative-sources-idUSKCN1RM2WU.
- 27 Ali Dizboni and Karim El-Baz, "Understanding the Egyptian Military's Perspective on the Su-35 Deal," Washington Institute Fikra Forum, July 15, 2021. https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/ policy-analysis/understanding-egyptian-militarys-perspective-su-35-deal.
- "Fact Sheet—Human Rights Conditions on U.S. Military Aid to Egypt," Project on Middle East Democracy, August 2018, https://pomed.org/fact-sheet-human-rights-conditions-onu-s-military-aid-to-egypt; and Amina Ismail and Haitham Ahmed, "Egyptian Court Acquits 40 NGO Workers Whose Case Strained Ties with U.S.," Reuters, December 20, 2018, https:// www.reuters.com/article/us-egypt-usa-idUSKCN1OJ0WR.
- Jack Detsch, Robbie Gramer, and Colum Lynch, "After Death of U.S. Citizen, State Department Floats Slashing Egypt Aid," Foreign Policy, March 31, 2020, https://foreignpolicy. com/2020/03/31/egypt-us-military-aid-middle-east-trump-sisi-congress-death-mustafa-kassemamerican-citizen-detained.
- 30 Senate Committee on Appropriations, Subcommittee on State and Foreign Operations, hearing entitled "Fiscal 2020 Budget Request for the State Department," CQ Congressional Transcripts, April 9, 2019. https://www.appropriations.senate.gov/hearings/ review-of-the-fy2020-budget-request-for-the-state-department.
- 31 Joe Biden, Twitter post, July 12, 2020, https://twitter.com/joebiden/status/ 1282419453939113989?lang=en; and "Biden Aide Blinken Voices Concern About Rights Group in Egypt," Reuters, November 20, 2020, https://www.reuters.com/article/ us-egypt-rights-biden-idUSKBN2802UJ.
- 32 Julian Pecquet, "Egypt Assembles Bipartisan Lobbying Team for Post-Trump Era," Middle East Eye, November 11, 2020, http://www.middleeasteye.net/news/ egypt-assembles-bipartisan-lobbying-team-post-donald-trump-era.
- "Egypt Rolling Airframe Missiles (RAM) Block 2 Tactical Missiles," Defense Security Cooperation Agency, February 16, 2021, https://www.dsca.mil/press-media/major-arms-sales/ egypt-rolling-airframe-missiles-ram-block-2-tactical-missiles.
- 34 "Joint Statement on Human Rights in Egypt," U.S. Mission to International Organizations in Geneva, March 12, 2021, https://geneva.usmission.gov/2021/03/12/ joint-statement-on-human-rights-in-egypt.
- 35 Nike Ching, "US, Egypt Mull Human Rights Dialogue Amid Scrutiny of Egypt's Record of Repression," Voice of America, June 1, 2021, https://www.voanews.com/a/middle-east_us-egyptmull-human-rights-dialogue-amid-scrutiny-egypts-record-repression/6206495.html.
- 36 Nahal Toosi, "In D.C. Visit, Egypt Spy Boss Claims U.S. Agreed in Writing to Jail American Activist," POLITICO, July 12, 2021, https://www.politico.com/news/2021/07/12/ egypt-spy-boss-jail-american-498983.
- 37 John Hudson and Missy Ryan, "Facing Pressure on Human Rights, Biden Administration Attaches New Conditions to Egypt Security Aid," Washington Post, September 14, 2021, https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/facing-pressure-on-human-rights-bidenadministration-attaches-new-conditions-on-egypt-security-aid/2021/09/13/bdbae57c-1496-11ec-ae9a-9c36751cf799_story.html.
- Mark R. Parris, "Starting Over: U.S.-Turkey Relations in the Post-Iraq War Era," Turkish Policy Quarterly 2, no. 1 (Spring 2003): 4, http://turkishpolicy.com/images/stories/2003-01postelectionTR/TPQ2003-1-parris.pdf.

- 39 Robbie Gramer and Keith Johnson, "Who Lost Turkey?," Foreign Policy, July 29, 2019, https:// foreignpolicy.com/2019/07/19/who-lost-turkey-middle-east-s-400-missile-deal-russia-syria-iraqkurdish-united-states-nato-alliance-partners-allies-adversaries.
- 40 Sabri Sayari, "Challenges of Triangular Relations: The US, the EU, and Turkish Accession," South European Society and Politics 16, no. 2 (June 2011): 263.
- 41 Jim Lobe, "Talking Turkey About Iraq: Democracy and Double-Talk," Institute for Policy Studies, December 1, 2002, http://ips-dc.org/talking_turkey_about_iraq_democracy_and_double-talk.
- 42 George W. Bush, "President Bush Discusses Democracy, Freedom From Turkey," White House— President George W. Bush Archive, June 29, 2004, https://georgewbush-whitehouse.archives.gov/ news/releases/2004/06/20040629-4.html.
- 43 Sinan Ülgen, "Redefining the U.S.-Turkey Relationship," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, July 26, 2021, 9, https://carnegieeurope.eu/2021/07/26/ redefining-u.s.-turkey-relationship-pub-85016.
- "Turkey's PKK Conflict: A Visual Explainer," International Crisis Group, last modified October 15, 2021, https://www.crisisgroup.org/content/turkeys-pkk-conflict-visual-explainer.
- 45 Barack Obama, "Remarks By President Obama to The Turkish Parliament," Obama White House Archive, April 6, 2009, https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/remarkspresident-obama-turkish-parliament; and Dov Friedman, "The Turkish Model: The History of a Misleading Idea," Center for American Progress, August 25, 2015, https://www.americanprogress .org/issues/security/reports/2015/08/25/119932/the-turkish-model.
- 46 Max Hoffman, "Flashpoints in U.S.-Turkey Relations in 2021," Center for American Progress, January 19, 2021, https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/security/reports/2021/01/19/494738/ flashpoints-u-s-turkey-relations-2021.
- 47 Jeremy Shapiro and Asli Aydıntaşbaş, "Biden and Erdogan Are Trapped in a Double Fantasy," Foreign Policy, January 6, 2021, https://foreignpolicy.com/2021/01/06/ biden-america-and-erdogan-turkey-are-trapped-in-a-double-fantasy.
- 48 Jeffrey Goldberg, "The Man Who Couldn't Take It Anymore," *The Atlantic*, October 2019. https://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/2019/10/james-mattis-trump/596665.
- 49 Gregory Sanders, "The Great Unwinding: The U.S.-Turkey Arms Sales Dispute," Center for Strategic and International Studies, March 17, 2020, https://www.csis.org/analysis/ great-unwinding-us-turkey-arms-sales-dispute; and Valerie Insinna, Joe Gould, and Aaron Mehta, "Congress Has Secretly Blocked US Arms Sales to Turkey for Nearly Two Years," Defense News, August 12, 2020, https://www.defensenews.com/breaking-news/2020/08/12/ congress-has-secretly-blocked-us-arms-sales-to-turkey-for-nearly-two-years.
- 50 "Treasury Sanctions Turkish Officials with Leading Roles in Unjust Detention of U.S. Pastor Andrew Brunson," U.S. Department of the Treasury, August 1, 2018, https://home.treasury.gov/ news/press-releases/sm453.
- 51 Jonathan Spicer, "Turkey Slams Biden's Past Call for U.S. to Back Erdogan Opponents," Reuters, August 16, 2020, https://www.reuters.com/article/usa-election-biden-turkey-idINKCN25C04D.
- 52 Humeyra Pamuk, "Biden Told Erdogan He Plans to Call 1915 Massacres of Armenians Genocide -Sources," Reuters, April 23, 2021, https://www.reuters.com/world/middle-east/ biden-erdogan-agree-meet-nato-summit-june-white-house-2021-04-23.
- 53 Ned Price, "Release Osman Kavala Immediately," U.S. Department of State February 10, 2021, https://www.state.gov/release-osman-kavala-immediately; "State Department Condemns Turkey's Anti-LGBT Rhetoric Against Protesters," Al Monitor, February 3, 2021, https://www.al-monitor .com/originals/2021/02/turkey-protests-us-concerned-anti-lgbt-rhetoric-istanbul.html; Joe Biden, "Statement by President Biden on Turkey's Withdrawal from the Istanbul Convention," White

- House, March 21, 2021, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statementsreleases/2021/03/21/statement-by-president-biden-on-turkeys-withdrawal-from-the-istanbulconvention; and "US Slams Turkey's Plan to Ban pro-Kurdish Party," Deutsche Welle, March 18, 2021, https://www.dw.com/en/us-slams-turkeys-plan-to-ban-pro-kurdish-party/a-56911385.
- 54 Humeyra Pamuk and Robin Emmott, "Exclusive: Turkey Pushed NATO Allies Into Softening Outrage Over Belarus Plane, Diplomats Say," Reuters, May 27, 2021, https://www.reuters.com/ world/exclusive-turkey-pushed-nato-allies-into-softening-outrage-over-belarus-plane-2021-05-27.
- 55 Victoria Nuland, "Testimony of Undersecretary Victoria Nuland Senate Foreign Relations Committee Hearing on U.S. Policy on Turkey," U.S. Senate Foreign Relations Committee, July 21, 2021, https://www.foreign.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/072121_Nuland_Testimony.pdf.
- 56 "Turkey: Erdogan Says Biden Meeting Opened 'New Era' of Diplomatic Ties," Deutsche Welle, June 21, 2021, https://www.dw.com/en/turkey-erdogan-says-biden-meeting-opened-newera-of-diplomatic-ties/a-57986686.
- Tanvi Madan, "Democracy and the US-India Relationship," Brookings Institution, January 22, 2021, https://www.brookings.edu/articles/democracy-and-the-us-india-relationship.
- Shivaji Kumar, "How Obama Revived U.S.-Indian Relations," National Interest, June 6, 2016, https://nationalinterest.org/feature/how-obama-revived-us-indian-relations-16473.
- "In New Memoir, Obama Flags 'Divisive Nationalism Touted by the BJP," The Week (India), November 16, 2020, https://www.theweek.in/news/india/2020/11/16/in-new-memoir-obamaflags-divisive-nationalism-touted-by-the-bjp.html.
- 60 Barack Obama, "Remarks by President Obama in Address to the People of India," Obama White House Archive, January 27, 2015, https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/ the-press-office/2015/01/27/remarks-president-obama-address-people-india.
- 61 Barack Obama, "Remarks by the President at National Prayer Breakfast," Obama White House Archive, February 5, 2015, https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/2015/02/05/ remarks-president-national-prayer-breakfast.
- 62 Alyssa Ayres, "Pivot to Democracy: The Real Promise of the Quad," War on the Rocks, January 3, 2019, https://warontherocks.com/2019/01/pivot-to-democracy-the-real-promise-of-the-quad.
- Shivshankar Menon, "India-China Ties: The Future Holds 'Antagonistic Cooperation', Not War," The Wire, December 7, 2020, https://thewire.in/external-affairs/ india-china-ties-expect-antagonistic-cooperation-future-not-war.
- 64 "US Has Privately Raised Issues With India, Says Ambassador for Religious Freedom Sam Brownback," Hindustan Times, December 9, 2020, https://www.hindustantimes.com/world-news/ us-has-privately-raised-issues-with-india-says-ambassador-for-religious-freedom-sam-brownback/ story-urrj4dOJas8DpPMfeit97J.html; and Peter Baker, Michael Crowley, and Jeffrey Gettleman, "Trump Sees Commitment to Religious Freedom in India as Riots Break Out," New York Times, February 25, 2020, https://www.nytimes.com/2020/02/25/us/politics/trump-modi.html.
- "Joint Statement from Quad Leaders," White House, September 25, 2021, https://www .whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/09/24/ joint-statement-from-quad-leaders.
- 66 See Tanvi Madan (@tanvi_madan), Twitter post, August 7, 2021, https://twitter.com/ tanvi madan/status/1423997626177916931.
- "Readout of Secretary Mayorkas' Meeting With India's Ambassador to the United States, Taranjit Singh Sandhu," U.S. Department of Homeland Security, March 23, 2021, https://www.dhs.gov/news/2021/03/23/ readout-secretary-mayorkas-meeting-india-s-ambassador-united-states-taranjit-singh.

- 68 "Fact Sheet: Biden-Harris Administration Delivers Emergency COVID-19 Assistance for India," White House, April 28, 2021, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/ statements-releases/2021/04/28/fact-sheet-biden-harris-administrationdelivers-emergency-covid-19-assistance-for-india; and "U.S.-India Joint Statement on Launching the U.S.-India Climate and Clean Energy Agenda 2030 Partnership," U.S. Department of Energy, April 22, 2021, https://www.energy.gov/articles/ us-india-joint-statement-launching-us-india-climate-and-clean-energy-agenda-2030.
- 69 Antony Blinken, "Opening Remarks at a Civil Society Roundtable," U.S. Department of State, July 28, 2021, https://www.state.gov/opening-remarks-at-a-civil-society-roundtable.
- 70 "Briefing With Acting Assistant Secretary for South and Central Asian Affairs Dean Thompson and Deputy Assistant Secretary for Near Eastern Affairs Daniel Benaim on the Secretary's Upcoming Travel to India and Kuwait," U.S. Department of State, July 23, 2021, https:// www.state.gov/acting-assistant-secretary-for-south-and-central-asian-affairs-dean-thompsonand-deputy-assistant-secretary-for-near-eastern-affairs-daniel-benaim-on-the-secretarysupcoming-travel-to-india-a.
- 71 "Philippines' Duterte Threatens to End Military Deal With the United States," Reuters, January 23, 2020, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-philippines-usa-duterte-idUSKBN1ZM2IZ.
- 72 Melissa G. Dalton, Hijab Shah, Shannon N. Green, and Rebecca Hughes, "Oversight and Accountability in U.S. Security Sector Assistance," Center for Strategic and International Studies, February 2018, https://csis-website-prod.s3.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/publication/180207_ Dalton_OversightAccountability_Web.pdf.

Carnegie Endowment for International Peace

The Carnegie Endowment for International Peace is a unique global network of policy research centers in Russia, China, Europe, the Middle East, India, and the United States. Our mission, dating back more than a century, is to advance peace through analysis and development of fresh policy ideas and direct engagement and collaboration with decision-makers in government, business, and civil society. Working together, our centers bring the inestimable benefit of multiple national viewpoints to bilateral, regional, and global issues.

Democracy, Conflict, and Governance

The Carnegie Democracy, Conflict, and Governance Program rigorously analyzes the global state of democracy, conflict, and governance, the interrelationship among them, and international efforts to strengthen democracy and governance, reduce violence, and stabilize conflict.

